FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 2/26/2020 1:25 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/2/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98219-8

No. 78454-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTIRES,

Appellant,

v.

SHEILA M. LAROSE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian M. Wright, WSBA # 45240 **Causey Wright, P.S.**P.O. Box 34538

Seattle, WA 98124

(206) 292-8627

# **

I. Identity of Petitioner
II. Citation to Court of Appeals' Decision1
III. Issues Presented for Review
IV. Statement of the Case
V. Argument5
VI. Conclusion
Table of Authorities
A. Table of Cases
Washington Cases
Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus, 142 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583
(2001)11
Department of Labor & Indus. v. Lyons Enters., Inc., 185 Wn. 2d 721, 374
P.3d 1097 (2016)6
Gorre v. City of Tacoma, 184 Wn. 2d 30, 357 P.3d 625 (2015) 12-13
Jepson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 89 Wn. 2d 394, 573 P.2d 10
(1977)
Kimzey v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 2015 Wash. App. Lexis 2943 (Nov.
30, 2015)6

Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist., 149 Wn. App 771, 206 P.3d 347	
(2009)6	
Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist., 173 Wn. App. 812, 295 P.3d 328	
(2013)6	
Wash. Rest. Ass'n v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 200 Wn. App. 119,	
401 P.3d 428 (2017)	
Washington Statutes & Rules	
RCW 51.08.140	
RCW 51.08.142	
RCW 51.28.0502	
RCW 51.32.18512	
WAC 296-14-300	

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Sheila LaRose, a workers' compensation claimant, respondent at the Court of Appeals, appellant at King County Superior Court, and appellant at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals.

### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Petitioner Sheila LaRose seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion in this case, filed January 27, 2020, 8 Wn. App. 2d 90, 437 P.3d 701. No motion for reconsideration was filed.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether RCW 51.08.142, which bars workers' compensation occupational disease "claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress," excludes a public defender's post-traumatic stress disorder caused by stalking, threats, and harassment from a mentally ill assigned felony client when no single incident alone caused the condition?
- 2. Whether WAC 296-14-300(2)(d) (2015), which excludes occupational disease claims based on "[r]epeated exposure to traumatic events," exceeds the Department of Labor & Industries' rulemaking authority granted by RCW 51.08.142?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sheila LaRose is a public defender. An assigned client stalked and harassed Ms. LaRose and her family, and as a result of this pattern of conduct, carried out over the course of several years, Ms. LaRose was diagnosed with a depressive disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). She filed a claim for workers' compensation benefits on April 4, 2016, for events occurring as late as March 21, 2015. Board Record at 54. Ms. LaRose acknowledges that if this claim were filed as an "injury" rather than an "occupational disease," her claim would be barred by the one year statute of limitations. RCW 51.28.050. But no one incident of stalking or harassment caused her depression and PTSD. As such, Ms. LaRose filed this claim as one for an occupational disease under RCW 51.08.140.

Sheila LaRose's claim was rejected by the Department of Labor & Industries ("Department") on July 22, 2016, at the request of King County, which is a self-insured employer for purposes of workers' compensation coverage. Board Record at 55-57. King County argued, and the Department agreed, that Ms. LaRose's claim should be rejected pursuant to WAC 296-14-300(2)(d) (2015), which states that "[r]epeated exposure to traumatic events . . . is not an industrial injury . . . or an occupational disease."

Ms. LaRose appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals

("Board"), where the assigned Industrial Appeals Judge ("IAJ") granted the Department's and King County's motions for summary judgment, issuing a proposed decision and order on March 28, 2017. Board Record at 29-33. Ms. LaRose filed a petition for review by the full Board of the IAJ's proposed decision on April 11, 2017. Id. at 22-24. The Board granted the petition on May 1, 2017, but ultimately affirmed the IAJ's proposed decision, adding references to case law in its conclusions of law. Id. at 15, 3-4. The Board held that it did not have the "authority to rule on the validity of an agency's rule," and upheld the rejection of Ms. LaRose's claim based on the language of WAC 296-14-300(2)(d). Id. at 4, Conclusion of Law 2.

Ms. LaRose appealed to King County Superior Court. CP at 1-2. She moved for summary judgment, largely reiterating and expanding upon the arguments she made in front of the Board. Id. at 3-10. A hearing was held in front of the Honorable James Rogers, who entered an order granting Ms. LaRose's motion on March 16, 2018, and remanded the case to the Board to hold hearings on the issue of whether the events alleged by Ms. LaRose constitute "stress" or "trauma." CP at 48-53. In its order, the superior court, agreed with Ms. LaRose on three main points: 1) challenges to agency rulemaking are not limited to

declaratory actions under the Administrative Procedure Act; 2) the 2015 amendments to WAC 296-14-300 were interpretive rather than legislative; 3) the Department exceeded its rulemaking authority when it excluded occupational disease claims predicated on repeated traumatic events.

The Department moved for reconsideration, arguing that because Ms. LaRose brought an "as applied" challenge, the Department should be allowed to continue to enforce the terms of WAC 296-14-300(2)(d). CP at 56-57. The Department's motion was denied, and the Department filed a notice of appeal on May 22, 2018. Id. at 61-63.

The case was briefed to Division I and oral argument took place on July 23, 2019. After the superior court issued its written decision, but before the Department filed its motion for reconsideration, the legislature passed a bill creating a presumption in favor of law enforcement officers' and firefighters' post-traumatic stress disorder occupational disease claims. *See* LAWS OF 2018, ch. 264. The bill was signed by Governor Inslee on March 23, 2018, and became effective June 7, 2018. Relevant to this case, the LEOFF PTSD presumption bill amended RCW 51.08.142 in a manner suggesting that these cases would be allowed as an exception to the stress claim bar:

RCW 51.08.142 and 1988 c 161 s 16 are each amended to read as follows:

- (1) Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section, the department shall adopt a rule pursuant to chapter 34.05 RCW that claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140.
- (2) The rule adopted under subsection (1) of this section shall not apply to occupational disease claims resulting from posttraumatic stress disorders of firefighters as defined in RCW 41.26.030(16) (a), (b), (c), and (h) and law enforcement officers as defined in RCW 41.26.030(18) (b), (c), and (e).

Laws of 2018, ch. 264, § 2. In its appellate brief and at oral argument, the Department claimed that this 2018 amendment is evidence of the legislature's original intent when it passed RCW 51.08.142 in 1987. *See* Br. of Appellant at 9-10; Transcript of Oral Argument, July 23, 2019; Laws of 1987, ch. 161 § 16.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals issued a published decision reversing the superior court decision on January 27, 2020.

### V. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review because the Industrial Insurance

Act protects the health and welfare of millions of Washingtonians who

have been, or may be, injured on the job. Thus, the issue presented in this

case is one of substantial public interest.

Moreover, the courts of appeals have applied RCW 51.08.142 unevenly and inconclusively. Division I, before this case, managed to avoid the issue presented by this case (the distinction between stress and

trauma) in Kimzey v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 2015 Wash. App. Lexis 2943 (Nov. 30, 2015). It avoided the issue because the injured worker had not raised that distinction at the administrative level, thus failing to preserve the argument. Division III also touched on the stress claim bar in an action brought by a worker against a school district for being forced to clean up a suicide involving a student. Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist., 149 Wn. App. 771, 206 P.3d 347 (2009) (court, in ruling on a CR 12(b)(6) motion, tersely noted that the plaintiff's "claim is specifically excluded from the statutory definition of an "occupational disease."). Notably, on remand the trial court dismissed the action because it determined that the events giving rise to the claim qualified as a single traumatic incident; thus, the school district employer was actually *immune* by virtue of the Industrial Insurance Act. See Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist., 173 Wn. App. 812, 295 P.3d 328 (2013). Thus, this Court is presented with the opportunity in this case to clarify once and for all the proper meaning of RCW 51.08.142.

The court of appeals' decision in this case runs contrary to a fundamental rule of statutory construction in workers' compensation cases requiring the law to be liberally construed in favor of the injured worker.

This Court has recently reaffirmed that the liberal construction mandate in Title 51 "necessitates that all doubts be resolved in favor of coverage."

Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Lyons Enters., Inc., 185 Wn. 2d 721, 734, 374 P.3d 1097 (2016). Liberal construction means interpreting exceptions to coverage narrowly, which the Department and the court of appeals did not do in this case.

There are two types of workers' compensation claims: industrial injuries and occupational diseases. An industrial injury is technically defined as "a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result, and occurring from without." RCW 51.08.100. An occupational disease is technically defined as "such disease or infection as arises naturally and proximately out of employment." RCW 51.08.140. In practice, what typically distinguishes an "injury" claim from an "occupational disease" claim is the latter's usually insidious onset. Occupational diseases are often thought of as not being caused by any one specific incident, but rather the cumulative effect of some insult.

More than thirty years ago, faced with what it believed was an impending wave of workplace stress-based occupational disease claims, the Department requested legislation excluding those claims. The Department's fears were in large part based on two appellate decisions. The first was *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Kinville*, 35 Wn. App. 80, 664 P.2d 1311 (1983). There an individual filed a claim for emotional and

psychiatric symptoms related to her "employment situation," but the court of appeals rejected the claim because it determined that she was required to prove that her particular condition was "peculiar to" her occupation.

This required a showing that the worker's particular employment created a greater risk of developing the disease; what the leading treatise on workers' compensation calls the "positional risk test." *See* 1 LARSON'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION LAW § 5.05. The second case was *Dennis v*.

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn. 2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987), this Court's seminal occupational disease decision. There this Court emphatically rejected the "peculiar to employment" test in favor of a more relaxed "distinctive conditions of employment" standard. *Dennis* rejected a positional risk or greater risk test specifically and, in the Department's view, the stage was thus set for an onslaught of workplace stress claims.

So at the Department's request, the legislature passed RCW 51.08.142 in 1987. LAWS OF 1987, ch. 161 § 16. In its original form, the statute directed the Department to pass a rule that "claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational disease." The Department's 1988 rule did that, and provided an illustrative list of situations that the statute and rule purportedly applied to, including, *inter alia*, changes in employment duties, conflicts with supervisors, perceived or actual threat of loss of a

job, job dissatisfaction, and subjective perceptions of employment conditions. WAC 296-14-300 (1988). None of the illustrative examples from the Department's original rule would be considered causative in the diagnosis of PTSD, whether in the version of the DSM in place in 1988 (DSM-III-R), or the DSM-5.<sup>1</sup>

As the psychiatric community's understanding of PTSD has expanded, the diagnostic criteria for that condition has been refined. Most significantly, when the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th Ed. 2013) ("DSM-5") was published, the psychiatric community formally recognized that PTSD could be caused by repeated

In the latest version, the DSM-V, criterion A. is satisfied by

Exposure to actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence in one (or more) of the following ways:

- 1. Directly experiencing the traumatic event(s).
- 2. Witnessing, in person, the event(s) as it occurred to others.
- 3. Learning that the traumatic event(s) occurred to a close family member or close friend . . . .
- 4. Experiencing repeated or extreme exposure to aversive details of the traumatic event(s)

American Psychiatric Association, DIAGNOSTIC & STATISTICAL MANUAL OF MENTAL DISORDERS 271 (5th Ed. 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The condition precedent for diagnosis of PTSD is referred to as a "Criterion A" event. This is the case because, since 1980 when PTSD first appeared by name in the DSM-III, the criteria for diagnosis of PTSD were listed in alphabetic format, with A. originally stating as a diagnostic requirement that "The person has experienced an event that is outside the range of usual human experience and that would be markedly distressing to almost anyone." American Psychiatric Association, DIAGNOSTIC & STATISTICAL MANUAL OF MENTAL DISORDERS 309.89 (1980).

"exposure" to traumatic events, including "threatened or actual physical assault." DSM-5 at 274. The Department apparently interpreted this expansion of the diagnostic criteria for PTSD as necessitating rulemaking to clarify that RCW 51.08.142 was actually meant to exclude occupational disease claims.

Thus, in 2015 the Department promulgated significant amendments to several rules to implement changes in accordance with the DSM-5. Relevant to this case, the Department proposed changes which were ultimately codified at WAC 296-14-300(2)(d). As originally proposed, that subsection of the rule provided that "[r]epeated exposure to aversive details of traumatic events, none of which rises to the level of extreme exposure, is not an industrial injury or an occupational disease." Board Record at 61. Various parties objected to this language on the grounds that it exceeded the Department's authority under RCW 51.08.142. *Id.* at 65-66. Thus, the Department's final rule omitted the language referring to industrial injuries, leaving only the prohibition on occupational disease PTSD claims: "[r]epeated exposure to traumatic events, none of which are a single traumatic event as defined in subsection (2)(b) and (c) of this section, is not an industrial injury or an occupational disease." Thus, although the Department argues that its authority for WAC 296-14-300(2)(d) comes from RCW 51.08.142, the Department's original intent was to exclude all claims for PTSD diagnosed in accordance

with the DSM-5's expanded diagnostic criteria. But the statute only grants the Department rulemaking authority vis-à-vis *occupational disease* claims.

Ms. LaRose argued at all levels of these proceedings that the 1987 version of RCW 51.08.142 could not have been intended to exclude occupational claims for PTSD because at the time the diagnostic criteria for that condition did not allow for it to be diagnosed as an occupational disease. In support of this theory, Ms. LaRose presented dictionary definitions, and the text from the DSM-III-R and DSM-5. Brief of Respondent at 12-14; Response to Brief of King County at 3.

Ultimately, the court of appeals in Ms. LaRose's case determined that both Ms. LaRose and the Department offered credible definitions of a key statutory term—a determination which ordinarily would result in a conclusion that the statute is ambiguous. *E.g.*, *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 808, 16 P.3d 583 (2001) ("When statutory language is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is considered ambiguous."). But instead of noting an ambiguity, the court of appeals instead determined that the term "stress" as it is used in RCW 51.08.142 is a medical term of art, thus making the Department's statutory construction arguments more persuasive.

The court of appeals' determination that "stress" as it was used in RCW 51.08.142 (1988) is a medical term of art is incorrect. As Ms.

LaRose has shown at every step of the way, the legislature could not have used the term "stress" as a medical term of art vis-à-vis the diagnosis of PTSD in 1987 because the version of the DSM in effect at that time did not recognize a diagnosis of PTSD predicated on "[e]xperiencing repeated or extreme exposure to aversive details of . . . traumatic event(s)." DSM-5 at 271.

Instead, "stress" as used in the 1987 statute connotes a layperson's understanding of garden-variety work stressors. There is nothing in the record to suggest that it was ever intended to be a term of art. Thus, the court of appeals improperly disregarded the plain language, dictionary definition-based arguments as to the plain meaning of RCW 51.08.142. Presented with two credible arguments as to the meaning of the statute, the court of appeals should have found the statutory language ambiguous, as did the trial court, and construed it liberally in keeping with the purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act.

The case relied upon by the court of appeals for the proposition that "stress" is a medical term of art is *Gorre v. City of Tacoma*, 184 Wn. 2d 30, 357 P.3d 625 (2015). In *Gorre*, this Court was asked to determine whether Valley Fever is a "respiratory disease" within the meaning of RCW 51.32.185, the firefighter presumption statute. That statute provides a list of specific medical conditions and applies a rebuttable presumption

that those conditions are occupationally-related in the case of firefighters. In *Gorre*, the Court had the benefit of expert medical testimony in reaching the conclusion that the statute's use of "respiratory disease" implied a technical, rather than lay, meaning.

Here, the court of appeals had nothing concrete on which to base its determination that "stress" is a medical term of art. Although the court of appeals cited Dr. Hunt's declaration as establishing "the interrelationship between 'stress' and 'trauma' in diagnosing PTSD," Dr. Hunt's declaration in actuality supports Ms. LaRose's argument that stress and trauma are medically distinct concepts. *See* Slip Opinion at 24. Dr.

#### Hunt states that

Stress in and of itself cannot be equated with the type of stressor required to diagnose PTSD. This diagnosis of PTSD is unique in that it requires specific and unique antecedent stressors to be present that directly lead to the symptoms observed. Thus, PTSD as specifically defined . . . does not equate with general "stress."

Board Record at 135. Dr. Hunt further notes that "the inclusion of language regarding the exclusion of 'repeated exposure to traumatic events' [in WAC 296-14-300(2)(d) is] consistent with the diagnostic criteria in the DSM-5 [sic]." Id. Thus, Dr. Hunt agrees that the diagnosis of PTSD requires something more than general stress.

13

Ms. LaRose asserts that there is no evidence in the record to support the argument that RCW 51.08.142 (1987) was ever intended to exclude "stress" as a distinctly medical concept. Instead, all contemporaneous evidence—the 1988 rulemaking file, the DSM-III-R, and contemporary dictionaries—point to the conclusion that the original version of the statute was simply targeted at ordinary workplace stressors—not actions or events capable of causing PTSD.

The Department argued, and the court of appeals agreed, that the 2018 amendments to RCW 51.08.142 evinced a legislative acquiescence to the Department's interpretation of the statute and promulgation of WAC 296-14-300(2)(d). Slip Opinion at 25-26. But the legislature is not "bound by an administrative interpretation of its own statute if the legislature fails to react in a timely manner. The legislative function cannot be usurped by an administrative body based upon claimed 'acquiescence.'" *Jepson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 89 Wn. 2d 394, 400, 573 P.2d 10 (1977). In other words, the Department's evolving interpretation of RCW 51.08.142 does not change the original legislative intent; if the Department wants to exclude occupational disease claims predicated on repeated exposure to traumatic events, its remedy lies with the legislature.

It follows that, because the legislature did not to exclude claims for PTSD based on the DSM-5 criteria, the Department's rule grafting that

criteria onto the stress-based claim exclusion rule exceeded its legislative

authority. See RCW 34.05.570(2)(c); see also Wash. Rest. Ass'n v. Wash.

State Liquor Control Bd., 200 Wn. App. 119, 401 P.3d 428 (2017)

VI. CONCLUSION

In summary, the evidence shows that the legislature's intent in

1988 was not to exclude PTSD—it was to exclude claims based on

ordinary workplace stress. Ms. LaRose and her family were stalked,

harassed, and threatened by a deranged felon. Just because Ms. LaRose's

condition came about from the cumulative result of these events, rather

than any single incident, does not mean that her claim should not be

allowed. This is not the type of claim that the legislature intended to

preempt in 1987. The trial court got it right—this Court should reverse the

court of appeals and affirm the trial court.