FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/27/2020 11:44 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98219-8

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHEILA M. LAROSE,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES and KING COUNTY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7740

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals applied black-letter law that an agency rule is valid if it is reasonably consistent with the authorizing statute. The Legislature directed the Department of Labor and Industries to adopt a rule precluding stress-based mental health conditions as occupational diseases. The Department responded in 1988 by adopting a rule that listed example causes of stressbased conditions that it will not consider as causing an occupational disease. Former WAC 296-14-300 (1988). In 2015, the Department amended the regulation to add repeated exposure to nonphysical traumatic events to the stressor list. WAC 296-14-300(2)(d). Although Sheila LaRose claims that this amendment exceeded the Department's statutory authority, the Court of Appeals correctly upheld the addition of another stressor to the list as reasonably consistent with the statute—after all, the Legislature directed the Department to adopt a rule about stress-based mental health conditions.

LaRose offers a generic reason for review: many workers have workers' compensation coverage. But she shows no significant public interest. She also points to cases that are consistent with this case. With no conflict, she shows no reason for review.

Review should be denied.

II. ISSUE

In RCW 51.08.142, the Legislature gave the Department authority to adopt a rule that "claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140." WAC 296-14-300(2)(d) adds "[r]epeated exposure to traumatic events" to the examples of excluded forms of stress. Did the Department exceed its statutory authority when it adopted this rule?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Overview of Applicable Industrial Insurance Law

When a worker is injured at work or sustains an occupational disease, the worker may file a claim for industrial insurance benefits.

RCW 51.28.020. Industrial injuries result from a single traumatic event.

RCW 51.08.100. Occupational diseases arise proximately and naturally out of employment over time and may include multiple exposures. RCW 51.08.140; *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 135, 814 P.2d 629 (1991). For a valid occupational disease claim, the distinctive conditions of employment must cause the disease. *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987).

In 1988, the Legislature enacted RCW 51.08.142 to address mental health conditions caused by stress at work. The statute directed the Department to adopt a rule excluding stress-based claims for mental health conditions and disabilities from coverage:

The department shall adopt a rule pursuant to chapter 34.05

RCW that claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140.

Former RCW 51.08.142 (1988). The statute contemplates nonphysical work circumstances that cause mental health conditions, not physical ones.

In 1988, the Department acted under RCW 51.08.142 when it adopted former WAC 296-14-300 (1988): "Claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of an occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140." Former WAC 296-14-300(1) (1988). In adopting the rule, the Department provided "examples of stress related mental conditions or mental disability situations." AR 113. The rule lists examples of claims based on stress that do not fall within the definition of occupational disease:

Examples of mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress that do not fall within occupational disease shall include, but are not limited to, those conditions and disabilities resulting from:

- (a) Change of employment duties;
- (b) Conflicts with a supervisor;
- (c) Actual or perceived threat of loss of a job, demotion, or disciplinary action;
- (d) Relationships with supervisors, coworkers, or the public;
- (e) Specific or general job dissatisfaction;
- (f) Work load pressures;
- (g) Subjective perceptions of employment conditions or environment;
- (h) Loss of job or demotion for whatever reason;
- (i) Fear of exposure to chemicals, radiation biohazards, or other perceived hazards;

- (j) Objective or subjective stresses of employment;
- (k) Personnel decisions;
- (l) Actual, perceived, or anticipated financial reversals or difficulties occurring to the businesses of self-employed individuals or corporate officers.

WAC 296-14-300(1). The rule also clarifies that "[s]tress resulting from exposure to a single traumatic event" will be adjudicated as an industrial injury. WAC 296-14-300(2)(a).

In 2009, the Court of Appeals decided in *Rothwell v. Nine Mile*Falls School District, 149 Wn. App. 771, 780–81, 206 P.3d 347 (2009),
that former WAC 296-14-300 (1988) excludes exposure to multiple
traumatic experiences as a stress-based occupational disease claim.

Rothwell's analysis relied on former WAC 296-14-300, which provided
that (1) the Department cannot allow mental health conditions caused by
stress as an occupational disease, but (2) "[s]tress resulting from exposure
to a single traumatic event will be adjudicated with reference to RCW
51.08.100." Former WAC 296-14-300 (1988) (emphasis added); Rothwell,
149 Wn. App. at 780.

The *Rothwell* court reasoned that, while the Industrial Insurance Act covers mental health conditions resulting from a *single* traumatic exposure, the Act does not cover mental health conditions resulting from *multiple* traumatic exposures. *Rothwell*, 149 Wn. App. at 782 ("Ms. Rothwell's PTSD did not result from a single traumatic event; rather, it

resulted from a series of incidents over a period of a few days" and so it was not an occupational disease because of the stress bar).

After the *Rothwell* opinion was issued, the Department amended WAC 296-14-300 in 2015 to add the "[r]epeated exposure to traumatic events" language in WAC 296-14-300(2)(d). Wash. St. Reg. 15-19-139. The provision provides:

(d) Repeated exposure to traumatic events, none of which are a single traumatic event as defined in subsection (2)(b) and (c) of this section, is not an industrial injury (see RCW 51.08.100) or an occupational disease (see RCW 51.08.142). A single traumatic event as defined in subsection (2)(b) and (c) of this section that occurs within a series of exposures will be adjudicated as an industrial injury (see RCW 51.08.100).

WAC 296-14-300(2)(d).

B. The Department Denied LaRose's Stress-Based Claim, and the Board Affirmed Under RCW 51.08.142 and Rothwell

In 2013, a client began stalking LaRose, a public defender. AR 55. LaRose reported that "her condition became disabling in some capacity" in April 2013. AR 55.

In April 2016, LaRose applied for workers' compensation benefits.

AR 54. In her application, she listed her condition as "psychological injury," explaining that she was stalked and harassed by an assigned client. AR 54. She alleged post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and

major depressive disorder from several stalking incidents by the same perpetrator. AR 48.

The Department denied the claim because LaRose's condition did not constitute an occupational disease. AR 57. The order stated that RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 excluded her claim. AR 57. LaRose appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. *See* AR 3.

At the Board, LaRose moved for partial summary judgment. AR 48–52. The Department and King County cross-moved for summary judgment, arguing that RCW 51.08.142, WAC 296-14-300(2)(d), and *Rothwell* barred her claim. AR 77–84, 86–101.

The Board granted summary judgment to the Department and King County, concluding that LaRose did not have an occupational disease:

Ms. LaRose's Application for Benefits for an occupational disease based on mental conditions resulting from repeated stressful events is not an occupational disease within the meaning of RCW 51.08.140, RCW 51.08.142, and *Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist.*, 149 Wn. App. 771 (2009).

AR 4.

C. The Court of Appeals Reversed the Superior Court to Uphold the Department's Rule

LaRose appealed to superior court. CP 1–2. The superior court reversed the Board, concluding that the Department "exceeded its rulemaking authority under RCW 51.08.142 when it promulgated WAC

296-14-300(2)(d)." CP 74. The court remanded to the Board for "hearings on whether Ms. LaRose's PTSD and major depressive disorder resulted from 'stress' or 'trauma." CP 74.

The Department appealed to the Court of Appeals. CP 76–77. The Court of Appeals held that the Department did not exceed its rulemaking authority when amending WAC 296-14-300. *LaRose v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 456 P.3d 879 (Wash. Ct. App. 2020). It held that the phrase "mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress" is a medical term of art, and includes exposure to traumatic events as stress causing mental conditions. *LaRose*, 456 P.3d at 892.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. LaRose Shows No Basis for Review

LaRose argues that this Court should accept review based on substantial public interest for two reasons. First, she argues that "the Industrial Insurance Act protects the health and welfare of millions of Washingtonians who have been, or may be, injured on the job." Pet. 5. Although it is true that Washingtonians have industrial insurance, this alone can hardly be a reason for review. Else, this Court would need to take review of the many industrial insurance appeals about which parties petition for review. Second, she argues that because the Court of Appeals has addressed issues related to repetitive trauma, the Court should accept

review. Pet. 5–6. But she points to no conflict with other appellate decisions, which could support review. Instead, these cases are consistent with *LaRose*. *See Rothwell*, 149 Wn. App. at 782 ("Ms. Rothwell's PTSD did not result from a single traumatic event; rather, it resulted from a series of incidents over a period of a few days" and so it was not an occupational disease because of the stress bar); *Kimzey v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, No. 72323-5-I, 2015 WL 7723006, *9 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 30, 2015) (unpublished) ("Because a mental condition caused by cumulative work-related stress is expressly excluded from coverage as an occupational disease, the superior court erred in reversing the decision and order of the Board denying Kimzey's PTSD claim for benefits as an occupational disease."). These consistent decisions show no reason for review.

B. LaRose's Quarrel with the Court of Appeals' Statutory Interpretation Forms No Basis for Review

With no factors showing the need for review under RAP 13.4,

LaRose argues that the Court of Appeals incorrectly interpreted the requirement in RCW 51.08.142 that the Department adopt rules related to "mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress." Pet. 6–15. She is wrong.

In 1988, the Legislature excluded claims based on mental conditions or disabilities caused by stress from the definition of "occupational disease":

The department shall adopt a rule pursuant to chapter 34.05 RCW that claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140.

Former RCW 51.08.142 (1988). Under this statute, if stress causes a mental condition, the condition is not an occupational disease.

Necessarily, the statute required the Department to define what "claims based" on stress constitute. The Legislature chose not to specify every form or example of a stress-based claim, delegating this task to the Department. In implementing the Legislature's direction to adopt a rule that identifies "claims based" on "stress," the Department identified common forms of stress in the workplace and excluded them from coverage. WAC 296-14-300(1), (2)(d). If a rule, as here, is "reasonably consistent with the controlling statute[s], an agency does not exceed its statutory authority." *Wash. Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health*, 183 Wn.2d 590, 595, 353 P.3d 1285 (2015) (quoting *Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 178 Wn.2d 571, 580, 311 P.3d 6 (2013)).

In determining that the Department acted reasonably consistent with the statute, the Court of Appeals did not, as LaRose claims, find that

there were two reasonable interpretations of "mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress." Pet. 11. Instead, as part of ordinary statutory construction of plain language, the Court of Appeals viewed the term as a medical term of art, looking to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Pet. 11; *LaRose*, 456 P.3d at 892; *see Gorre v. City of Tacoma*, 184 Wn.2d 30, 37, 357 P.3d 625 (2015) (using medical term of art to discern plain meaning).

LaRose questions the use of this manual. Pet. 12. But the only psychiatrist who provided a declaration explained that the working definition of stress "implies a psychological response to external pressure, commonly over time, typically pressure or strain on an individual emotionally or psychologically." AR 135. LaRose offers no counter medical definition.

The heart of LaRose's argument is that the Legislature only intended to target "general stress" or "ordinary workplace stressors" in RCW 51.08.142. Pet 13–14. But RCW 51.08.142 directs a Department rule targeting "claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress[, which] do not fall within the definition of occupational disease." The word "stress" was not qualified by the terms "general" or "ordinary," and courts do not add terms to statutes. *City of Seattle v. Fuller*, 177 Wn.2d 263, 269, 300 P.3d 340 (2013).

The Legislature and courts have confirmed that excluding repetitive traumatic events from coverage as an occupational disease is valid. *See* Laws of 2018, ch. 264, § 2; *Rothwell*, 149 Wn. App. at 781–82. In 2018, the Legislature excluded post-traumatic stress disorder suffered by first responders from the stress bar in RCW 51.08.142. Laws of 2018, ch. 264, § 2. This amendment shows the Legislature's understanding that RCW 51.08.142 barred PTSD from multiple traumatic events from coverage—otherwise, there would be no need to exempt first responders from the stress bar. And courts presume that the Legislature does not engage in useless acts. *In re Recall of Pearsall-Stipek*, 141 Wn.2d 756, 769, 10 P.3d 1034 (2000).

LaRose argues that the Court should not consider this legislative understanding, citing a 1977 case. Pet. 14 (citing *Jepson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 89 Wn. 2d 394, 400, 573 P.2d 10 (1977)). But this Court in 1997 affirmed that it is appropriate to look to legislative acquiescence of Department rules. *Manor v. Nestle Food Co.*, 131 Wn.2d 439, 445 n.2, 932 P.2d 628, *amended*, 945 P.2d 1119 (1997), *disapproved on different grounds by Wash. Indep. Tel. Ass'n v. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n*, 148 Wn.2d 887, 64 P.3d 606 (2003). The Court of Appeals properly considered this legislative action as indicative of legislative intent, and the opinion below presents no good reason for this Court's review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' routine statutory construction provides no reason for review.